
IN THE CIRCUIT COURT OF JACKSON COUNTY, MISSOURI

Samuel K. Lipari,
Plaintiff,

)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)

Case No. 0916-CV38273v.

Chapel Ridge Multifamily LLC, et al.,

Defendants.

THE REGUS DEFENDANTS' MOTION TO DISMISS PLAINTIFF'S
AMENDED PETITION AND INCORPORATED MEMORANDUM IN SUPPORT

COMES NOW Defendants Regus Limited ('"Regus") erroneously sued as Regus PLC,

Regus Management Group LLC ("Regus Management Group") and Lianne Zellmer ("Defendant

Zellmer") (collectively the "Regus Defendants"), by and through counsel, and hereby move the

Court to dismiss Plaintiff Samuel Lipari's ("Plaintiff') Amended Petition Under Rule 55.33 (the

"Petition") with prejudice, pursuant to Missouri Rule of Civil Procedure 55.27(a) on the grounds

that it fails to state a claim upon which relief can be granted against the Regus Defendants. In

support of their Motion to Dismiss Plaintiff's Petition, the Regus Defendants provide as follows:

INTRODUCTION

The Regus Defendants license out fully equipped and fully serviced office space to

businesses. Defendant Zellmer is the Center Manager of the Regus location in Kansas City,

Missouri. Giving Plaintiff all reasonable inferences, he appears to allege that the Regus

Defendants, along with the other named Defendants and unnamed individuals, were involved in

a clandestine conspiracy to defraud him and deprive him of his property in violation of The

Racketeer Influenced and Corrupt Organizations Act ("RICO"). Plaintiffs lengthy Petition

appears to allege that a mishmash of attorneys, judges, executive officers, law firms, individuals

and companies have somehow conspired to harm Plaintiffs hospital supply business. Plaintiff,
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however, fails to offer any factual support whatsoever for his claim and thus, the Petition should

be dismissed with prejudice for failure to state a claim upon which relief can be granted.

PLAINTIFF'S ALLEGATIONS AGAINST THE REGUS DEFENDANTS

Plaintiffs allegations are difficult to decipher and comprehend. It appears, however, that

Plaintiff claims the following in support of his allegations against the Regus Defendants of

conspiracy and mail and wire fraud in violation of RICO:

• Plaintiff rented virtual office mail and phone services from the Regus Defendants.

(Petition ~ 94)

• The Regus Defendants formed an agreement with undisclosed individuals and entities in

violation of RICO to shut down Plaintiffs home healthcare/consumer business and to

interfere with Plaintiff's finances. (Petition ~ 95)

• On September 17,2009 Plaintiff received an email letter from a collection agency on

behalf ofthe Regus Defendants demanding payment of$3,533.70. (Petition -,r 242)

• Plaintiff responded by sending a letter to Defendant Zellmer stating:

"Hi, Lianne, I received this email and it seems like a scam? If! recall correctly, the last
invoice I received from you was around $900. I don't think you or Regus would like
someone representing your interest in this way? Anyway I thought you should know.
Best regards, S-" (Petition ~ 243)

• On September 18, 2009, Plaintiff received a reply email from Defendant Zellmer

confirming that the email was not a scam and that the amount owed was proper. (Petition

~ 244)

• Plaintiff replied to Defendant Zellmer that he did not "believe the email" sent by the

collection agency was legitimate but that he would send a form to her so that the Regus

Defendants could seek payment on his behalf from the Department of Justice or the

Federal Bureau ofInvestigation. (Petition ~ 245)
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• Plaintiff alleges that he was unable to pay Regus because of negligence committed by

"Mr. Robert Mueller in training FBI agents to investigate Public Official Corruption that

the FBI had knowledge of and failed to stop allowing the RICO conspirators to continue

procuring fraudulent outcomes in court." (Petition ~ 237)

• The United States Government was supposed to pay the full amount owed to the Regus

Defendants on his behalf. (Petition ~ 237)

• On July 27, 2009 the Regus Defendants terminated his Service Agreement with Regus

dated September 24,2007 (the "Service Agreement") and the termination coordinated

with Plaintiffs eviction from his residence on July 24, 2009. (Petition ~~ 131, 172)

• The Regus Defendants' termination of his Service Agreement evidences the fact that the

Regus Defendants were participating in an "ongoing RICO enterprise." (Petition ~~ 172-

74)

• The Regus Defendants committed mail and wire fraud by using the U.S. mail and the

Internet to terminate his Services Agreement. (Petition j'[ 232,242)

• The Regus Defendants refused to accept payment on his account by failing to turn in a

"FTCP form." (Petition ~ 298)

• The alleged mail and wire fraud and alleged RICO violation was an effort to retaliate

against him for exposing a death threat made by an FBI field officer. (Petition, 231)

STANDARD FOR MOTION TO DISMISS

In determining whether to dismiss a petition pursuant to Mo. R. Civ.P. 55.27(a)(6), the

Court must accept all averments in the petition as true and construe the petition in favor of the

plaintiff. Hanrahan v. Nashua Corp., 752 S.W.2d 878, 882 (Mo. App. 1988). However, the

Court must not accept the pleader's conclusory allegations. "Where the petition contains only
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conclusions and does not contain the ultimate facts nor any allegations from which to infer those

facts, a motion to dismiss is properly granted." Arnold v. Erkmann, 934 S.W.2d 621, 626 (Mo.

App. 1996). As set forth below, each of Plaintiff s claims should be dismissed pursuant to Rule

55.27(a)(6) for failure to state a claim because Plaintiffs Petition only contains conclusory

statements and does not contain any of the ultimate facts or allegations to support his

conclusions.

LEGAL ARGUMENT

Although Plaintiffs allegations are convoluted at best, it appears that Plaintiff is

attempting to allege that the Regus Defendants participated in a RICO conspiracy with the other

named Defendants, the United States Government, this Court, and numerous other entities, to

harm his business. Plaintiff also alleges that the Regus Defendants committed mail and wire

fraud as part of the alleged RICO conspiracy. None of Plaintiffs claims, however, is supported

by any facts sufficient to survive a motion to dismiss. Plaintiff has merely stated that the Regus

Defendants are a part of a RICO conspiracy and committed mail fraud. That is it. Plaintiff has

failed to allege how any ofthe Regus Defendants' actions constitute a RICO conspiracy or mail

and wire fraud. Indeed, the Regus Defendants' actions do not constitute a RICO conspiracy or

mail and wire fraud and, thus, the Petition should be dismissed.

A. THE RICO CONSPIRACY CLAIM

Plaintiff has alleged that the Regus Defendants were part of a RICO conspiracy in

violation of 18 U.S.C. 1862(c) and (d). To establish a violation of 18 U.S.c. § 1962(c), Plaintiff

must show, "(1) the existence of an enterprise; (2) defendant's association with the enterprise;

(3) defendant's participation in predicate acts of racketeering; and that (4) defendant's actions

constitute a pattern of racketeering activity." Kilper v. City of Alper, Mo, No. 4:08cv267, 2009
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WL 2208404 at *20 (E.D. Mo. July 23,2009). To recover under 18 U.S.C. § 1962(d), the

Plaintiff must show that there was a conspiracy in furtherance of an alleged RICO violation. If

one element of a RICO claim is not established, the Court is not obligated to address the other

elements. Id. Plaintiff has failed to show all of the elements necessary to establish a RICO

violation.

First, Plaintiffhas not shown that there was an enterprise. Proving the existence of an

enterprise requires "evidence of an ongoing organization, formal or informal, and ... evidence

that the various associates function as a continuing unit." United States v. Turkette, 452 U.S. 576,

583 (1981). Those who are associates of a criminal enterprise must share a common purpose.

Atlas Pile Driving Co. v. DiCon Fin. Co., 886 F.2d 986, 995 (8th Cir. 1989). Plaintiff has not

alleged any facts to show the Defendants shared a common purpose. In fact, based on Plaintiff's

own allegations, it appears that all the Defendants were acting strictly in their own best interest.

Craig Outdoor Advertising. Inc. v. Viacom Outdoor, Inc. 528 F.3d 1001, 1026 (8th Cir. 2008)

(finding no common purpose where defendants were acting strictly in their own best interest).

The Regus Defendants, for example, were only making efforts to recover payments owed to

them by Plaintiff. Plaintiffs sole basis for claiming that the Regus Defendants were part of a

conspiracy is based on the fact that the Regus Defendants terminated his Service Agreement

three days after he was evicted from his residence. (Petition ~~ 131, 172)

Second, Plaintiff has not shown how any of the named Defendants are related. Craig

Outdoor Advertising. Inc., 528 F.3d at 1028 (plaintiff must show that the racketing activities are

related ... J; Wisdom v. First Midwest Bank of Poplar Bluff, 167 F.3d 402, 406 (8th Cir. Mo.

1999) (the "relationship prong of the pattern element of a claim under [RICO] is satisfied if the

predicate acts have the same or similar purposes, results, participants, victims, or methods of
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commission, or otherwise are interrelated by distinguishing characteristics and are not isolated

events").

Lastly, Plaintiff has not shown a pattern of racketeering. Wisdom, 167 F.3d at 407. The

pattern element "requires at least two acts of racketeering activity." 18 U.S.C. § 1961 (5); see

also HJ., Inc. v. Nw. Bell Tel. Co., 492 U.S. 229, 237-38 (1989). The predicate act must also

. "amount to or pose a threat of continued criminal activity." United HealthCare Corp. v. Am.

Trade Ins. Co., Ltd., 88 F.3d 563,571 (8th Cir. 1996) (quoting HJ., Inc., 492 U.S. at 239).

Continuity can refer to either a closed period of repeated conduct or to past conduct that by its

nature projects into the future with a threat ofrepetition. Wisdom, 167 F.3d at 406. Plaintiff has

not alleged that the Regus Defendants' alleged predicate acts have the threat of repetition, thus

the allegations must refer to a closed period of repeated conduct. Plaintiff alleges that the Regus

Defendants' allegedly predicate acts occurred between July 24, 2009 and September 18,2009. It

has been held, however, that "the requirement of continuity over a closed period is not met when

the predicate acts extend less than a year." Primary Care Investors, Seven, Inc. v. PHP

Healthcare Corp., 986 F.2d 1208, 1215 (8th Cir. 1992). Based on Plaintiff's own allegations, the

allegedly predicate acts only lasted about two months.

For the foregoing reasons, Plaintiffs claim under 18 U.S.C. 1962(c) and (d) should be

dismissed.

B. THE MAIL AND WIRE FRAUD CLAIM

Plaintiff has alleged mail and wire fraud in violation of 18 U.S.C. §§ 1341 and 1343 as

the underlying racketeering activity to his RICO claim. The plaintiff in a complaint charging

mail fraud under 18 U.S.c. § 1341 must allege the: 1) devising or participating in a scheme to

defraud; (2) intent to defraud; (3) knowledge that it was reasonably foreseeable that the mails
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would be used; and (4) use of the mails in furtherance of the scheme. us. v. Redziv, 569 F.3d

841,847 (8th Cir. 2009). The elements of wire fraud under Section 1343 directly parallel those

of the mail fraud statute, but require the use of an interstate telephone call or electronic

communication made in furtherance of the scheme. United States v. Profit, 49 F.3d 404, 406 n.1

(8th Cir. 1995) (the four essential elements to the crime of wire fraud are: (1) that the defendant

voluntarily and intentionally devised or participated in a scheme to defraud another out of

money; (2) that the defendant did so with the intent to defraud; (3) that it was reasonably

foreseeable that interstate wire communications would be used; and (4) that interstate wire

communications were in fact used). A plaintiff's petition is insufficient where it does not indicate

how and in what manner the communications violated the mail and wire fraud statutes. Formax

Inc. v. Hostert, 841 F.2d 388,391 (Fed. Cir. 1988). Further, the facts constituting fraud must be

plead with particularity. Mo. Rule Civ. Proc. 55.15; Heitman v. Brown Group, Inc., 638 S.W.2d

316 (Mo. Ct. App. 1982). Mere conclusions are not sufficient. Williams v. Mercantile Bank of

St. Louis NA, 845 S.W.2d 78 (Mo. Ct. App. 1993).

In addition to simply not making any sense or being put in any sort of context, Plaintiff

has failed to plead all of the elements of mail and wire fraud. Schauer v. Gundaker Movits Real

Estate Co., 813 S.W.2d 112, 114 (Mo. Ct. App. 1991) (failure to plead all the elements of fraud

subjects the petition to dismissal). A claim for mail or wire fraud under RICO must identify the

"who, what, where, and how" of the alleged fraud. BJC Health Sys. v. Columbia Cas. Co., 468

F.3d 908, 917 (8th Cir. 2007). It appears that Plaintiff's allegation of mail and wire fraud is that

the Regus Defendants committed fraud by using the U.S. mail and Internet to provide Plaintiff

notices of his overdue account and with notice of the termination of his Services Agreement.

Plaintiff has not alleged what was fraudulent about this behavior. In fact, Plaintiff appears to

xco IDOCS\987805.2 7



allege that his account was indeed overdue which suggests that Defendants' demand for payment

was proper. (Petition ~ 237) Plaintiffs allegations suggest that the Regus Defendants were

simply taking actions against Plaintiff to recover monies lawfully owed to them. Wisdom, 167

F.3d at 407 (finding no RICO violation where the bank had a right to attempt to collect on the

delinquent loan). Further, Plaintiff has not alleged that the Regus Defendants knew the alleged

communications were false. Durlandv. US., 161 U.S. 306, 313-314 (1896); Kempton v. Dugan,

224 S.W.3d 83,88 ("a fraud claim requires proof that the speaker knew the misrepresentation

was false at the time it was made").

Plaintiffs claim for mail and wire fraud should be dismissed for failure to state a claim as

Plaintiff has failed to allege any facts explaining how any of the alleged actions of the Regus

Defendants constitute fraud.

For the foregoing reasons, Plaintiffs allegation of mail and wire fraud should be

dismissed.

CONCLUSION

WHEREFORE, the Regus Defendants move the Court to dismiss Plaintiff's Petition with

prejudice and for such further relief as the Court deems just and appropriate.
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RespectfuJIy submitted,

ATTORNEYS FOR DEFENDANTS
REGUS LIMITED, REGUS
MANAGEMENT GROUP LLC AND
LIANNE ZELLMER

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

I hereby certify that a true and correct copy of the above document was served via

First Class Mail, postage pre-paid, this 25th day of February, 2010 upon:

Samuel K. Lipari
803 S. Lake Drive
Independence, MO 64064

James Christian Morrow
Executive Hills East Bldg A
10401 Holmes, Suite 300
Kansas City, MO 64131

Chapel Ridge Multifamily, LLC
The Fairways at Lakewood
3520 NE Akin Blvd.
Lee's Summit, MO 64064

Wells Fargo
420 Montgomery Street
San Francisco, CA 94163

Chris. M. Troppito
508 Walnut Street
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Kansas City, MO 64106
Troppito &Miller, LLC
508 Walnut Street
Kansas City, MO 64106

Nicholas L. Ackerman
508 Walnut Street
Kansas City, MO 64106

Tony R. Miller
508 Walnut Street
Kansas City. MO 64106

John Kenneth Power
Rusch Blackwell Sanders, LLP
4801 Main Street
Suite 1000
Kansas City, MO 64112

General Electric Capital Business Asset Funding Corp.
Missouri Registered Agent
120 S. Central Avenue
Clayton, MO 63105

GE Transportation Systems Global Signaling, LLC
Missouri Registered Agent
CT Corporation System
120 S. Central Avenue
Clayton, MO 63105

General Electric Company
Missouri Registered Agent
CT Corporation System
314 North Broadway
St. Louis, MO 63102

Jeffrey R. Immelt, CEO
Jonathan Glecklen
Arnold & Porter
555 12thStreet, N.W.
Washington, DC 20004

ATTORNEY FOR DEF
REGUS LIMITED, REG
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IN THE CIRCUIT COURT OF JACKSON COUNTY, MISSOURI

Samuel K. Lipari,
Plaintiff,

)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)

Case No. 0916-CV38273
v.

Chapel Ridge Multifamily LLC, et al.,

Defendants.

ORDER

This matter comes before the Court on the Motion of Defendants Regus Limited, Regus

Management Group LLC and Lianne Zellmer (collectively the "Regus Defendants") to dismiss

Plaintiff s Amended Petition with prejudice as against the Regus Defendants pursuant to

Missouri Rule of Civil Procedure 55.27(a) on the grounds that it fails to state a claim upon which

relief can be granted. Having reviewed the Motion, the Court finds that the Motion should be

granted.

IT IS THEREFORE ORDERED that Plaintiffs Amended Petition be dismissed with

prejudice as against the Regus Defendants.

Dated: ------------------
The Honorable Robert Michael Schieber
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